00100101001001

00110

Certified Reference Material IAEA-448: Soil from Oil Field Contaminated with Technically Enhanced Radium-226





CERTIFIED REFERENCE MATERIAL IAEA-448: SOIL FROM OIL FIELD CONTAMINATED WITH TECHNICALLY ENHANCED RADIUM-226

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA **AZERBAIJAN** BAHRAIN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BELIZE BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURKINA FASO BURUNDI CAMBODIA CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHAD CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA CONGO COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA CYPRUS CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICA DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA ESTONIA ETHIOPIA FIJI FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY GHANA GREECE

GUATEMALA HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY **ICELAND** INDIA INDONESIA IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAO IRELAND ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN **KAZAKHSTAN** KENYA KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT KYRGYZSTAN LAO PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC LATVIA LEBANON LESOTHO LIBERIA LIBYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAWI MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITANIA MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MONTENEGRO MOROCCO MOZAMBIQUE **MYANMAR** NAMIBIA NEPAL **NETHERLANDS** NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA NORWAY OMAN PAKISTAN PALAU

PANAMA PAPUA NEW GUINEA PARAGUAY PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL QATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION RWANDA SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE **SLOVAKIA SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA SUDAN **SWAZILAND SWEDEN** SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAJIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TOGO TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA **UKRAINE** UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

IAEA Analytical Quality in Nuclear Applications No. IAEA/AQ/30

CERTIFIED REFERENCE MATERIAL IAEA-448: SOIL FROM OIL FIELD CONTAMINATED WITH TECHNICALLY ENHANCED RADIUM-226

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2013

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Marketing and Sales Unit, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre PO Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

For further information on this publication, please contact:

Terrestrial Environment Laboratory, Seibersdorf International Atomic Energy Agency 2444 Seibersdorf Austria

> © IAEA, 2013 Printed by the IAEA in Austria September 2013

CERTIFIED REFERENCE MATERIAL IAEA-448: SOIL FROM OIL FIELD CONTAMINATED WITH TECHNICALLY ENHANCED RADIUM-226 IAEA, VIENNA, 2013 IAEA/AQ/30 ISSN 2074–7659 © IAEA, 2013 Printed by the IAEA in Austria September 2013

FOREWORD

To ensure reliable evaluation of potential radiological hazards and proper decision making related to radiation protection measures, the IAEA, through the IAEA Environment Laboratories, supports Member State laboratories in their efforts to maintain readiness and to improve the quality of analytical results. It does so by producing reference materials, by developing standardized methods for sample collection and analysis, and by conducting interlaboratory comparisons and proficiency tests as tools for external quality control of analytical results.

The problem of naturally occurring radioactive material (NORM) contamination is known to be widespread, occurring in oil and gas production facilities throughout the world. It has become a subject of attention in many IAEA Member States. In response to this radiological concern, facilities in many Member States have been characterizing the nature and extent of NORM in oil and gas installations and in the surrounding environment, evaluating the potential for exposure to workers and the public, and developing methods for properly managing these relatively high massic activity residues.

Within this context, the IAEA Environment Laboratories, in cooperation with the Atomic Energy Commission of Syria, an IAEA Collaborating Centre, have prepared a new certified reference material of soil contaminated with NORM, identified as IAEA-448, certified for the massic activity of ²²⁶Ra. This report presents the methodologies used for the production and certification of IAEA-448.

The IAEA officer responsible for this publication was A. Pitois of the IAEA Environment Laboratories.

EDITORIAL NOTE

This publication has been prepared from the original material as submitted by the authors. The views expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the IAEA, the governments of the nominating Member States or the nominating organizations.

This publication has not been edited by the editorial staff of the IAEA. It does not address questions of responsibility, legal or otherwise, for acts or omissions on the part of any person.

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

The authors are responsible for having obtained the necessary permission for the IAEA to reproduce, translate or use material from sources already protected by copyrights.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	METHODOLOGY	2
	2.1. Sampling and preparation of the material	2
	2.2. Homogeneity study	
	2.3. Characterization campaign	
	2.4. Assignment of certified property value and associated uncertainty	7
	2.5. Moisture content determination	
	2.6. Metrological traceability and commutability	
	2.7. Intended use	
	2.8. Instructions for use	
APP	ENDIX	
REF	ERENCES	
CON	NTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	

1. INTRODUCTION

It is well known that radioactivity contamination in oil and gas production and processing equipment is of natural origin and widespread, occurring throughout the world. This problem is known as Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) contamination, and has become a subject of interest in many IAEA Member States.

The gravity of the problem is not only due to potential serious radiological exposure of workers, but also due to the fact that the NORM could contaminate the environment surrounding oil and gas fields.

Uranium and thorium compounds are mostly insoluble; as oil and gas are brought to the surface, these compounds remain in the underground reservoir. As the natural pressure within the bearing formation falls, formation water present in the reservoir will also be extracted with the oil and gas. Some radium and radium daughter compounds are slightly soluble in water and may become mobilized when this production water is brought to the surface.

The oil and gas production stream passes through a separator where the oil, gas, and water are divided into separate streams based on their different fluid densities. Most of the solids removed in the separator accumulate there. The produced water flows from the separators into storage tanks and is often injected into disposal or recovery wells. ²²⁶Ra is generally present in produced water in higher concentrations than ²²⁸Ra [1].

In many cases, the produced water is evaporated in lagoons and this leads to soil contamination with Ra isotopes. In addition, produced water leakage also leads to soil contamination in oil fields. ²²⁶Ra concentrations in contaminated soil in oil fields can range up to tens of thousands of Bq kg⁻¹.

To meet the IAEA Member States' needs for a certified reference material of soil contaminated with ²²⁶Ra from oil fields, the Terrestrial Environment Laboratory prepared IAEA-448 in cooperation with the Atomic Energy Commission of Syria, an IAEA collaborating center.

This report presents the sample preparation methodology, materials, evaluation of certification campaign results, and assignment of property values and their associated uncertainty. The reference value and associated uncertainty for ²²⁶Ra in the IAEA-448 soil certified reference material (CRM) was established.

The new IAEA-448 CRM can be used for the development and validation of analytical methods for determination of ²²⁶Ra in soil and to ensure the reliability and validity of ²²⁶Ra analytical results.

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1. SAMPLING AND PREPARATION OF THE MATERIAL

A sample of two hundred kg of contaminated bulk soil was collected in September 2007 from a Syrian oil field by staff from the Syrian Atomic Energy Commission. Stones and undesired parts were manually removed from the bulk material. The soil was evenly distributed on stainless trays in a laboratory environment for primary drying at room temperature. The soil was further dried in a closed oven at 105 °C for 48 hours and the moisture content was determined to be (3.4 ± 0.3) % with a coverage factor k = 1.

The material was milled to a powder in a rotary ball mill. The powder was then sieved through a 100 μ m sieve. The sieved material, with a particle size of less than 100 μ m as shown in Fig. 1, was further homogenized by using a plastic rotating drum for 7 days in a clean atmosphere at approximate room temperature of 24 °C and relative humidity of 50 %. To check the level of bulk material homogeneity, three samples from the bottom, middle and top of the homogenizer were analyzed using gamma ray spectrometry. The material mixing was stopped when a relative standard deviation of the three samples less than 4 % was attained.

The IAEA-448 soil CRM was bottled under normal laboratory conditions; 500 bottles were filled in one day. The bottles were labeled, arranged into plastic boxes and sterilized using gamma ray irradiation with a total dose of 25 kGy using a 60 Co source.

Each bottle is provided with a wide secure-sealed cover to preserve the integrity of the reference material in the bottle.

The average moisture content of the soil after bottling was determined by drying 5 g overnight at 105 °C.



FIG. 1. Cumulative particle size distribution of the IAEA-448 soil CRM.

2.2. HOMOGENEITY STUDY

A comprehensive homogeneity study was carried out on this soil CRM to estimate the uncertainty associated with its heterogeneity. Between-bottle homogeneity was tested by the determination of the massic activity of ²²⁶Ra using a validated analytical procedure engaging high resolution gamma ray spectrometry. In total, 10 bottles were randomly selected to cover the whole range of the bottles. Five independent sample portions of 5 g from each bottle were analyzed. The analysis for the homogeneity study was performed under repeatability conditions and in a randomized way to separate potential analytical drifts from a trend in the filling sequence and to minimize variations.

The collected set of data of ²²⁶Ra was subjected to several statistical tests. Beside general descriptive statistics, the following tests were performed:

- Outlier tests (Dixon, Grubbs, Skewness, Kurtosis);
- Directional tests (Skewness, Kurtosis);
- Normality tests (Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Kolmogorov-Smirnov-Lilliefors).

No statistically detected outlying data was observed within the set of reported results. The directional tests pass the acceptance criteria, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Kolmogorov-Smirnov-Lilliefors normality tests showed normal distributions of the data set.

The standard uncertainty associated with the material heterogeneity was calculated using the formulae stated in ISO Guide 35 [2]. Single way ANOVA results were used to apply formulae 1 to 3. Table 1 shows the results of the homogeneity study results. The outcome of the homogeneity study demonstrated that the uncertainty due to between-bottle heterogeneity u_{bb} is generally very small and the material can be considered sufficiently homogeneous for the tested radionuclide at the range of mass used.

$$s_{wb}^2 = MS_{within} \tag{1}$$

$$s_{bb}^2 = \frac{MS_{among} - MS_{within}}{n_0}$$
(2)

$$u_{bb} = \sqrt{\frac{S_{wb}^2}{n_{bot} \cdot n} + \frac{S_{bb}^2}{n_{bot}}}$$
(3)

Where:

MS_{among}	Mean square (ANOVA) between bottles
MS_{within}	Mean square (ANOVA) within bottles
n	Number of observations
n _{bot}	Number of bottles
<i>n</i> ₀	(Effective) number of (sub) group members
s_{bb}^2	Variance between bottles

S_{wb}^2	Variance within bottles
u_{bb}	Uncertainty associated with the between bottle heterogeneity

TABLE 1. HETEROGENEITY UNCERTAINTY EXPRESSED IN Bq kg⁻¹ AND IN PERCENTAGE OF THE REFERENCE VALUE

Heterogeneity standard uncertainty	$(Bq kg^{-1})$	(%)
u_{bb}	190	1.0

2.3. CHARACTERIZATION CAMPAIGN

Six expert laboratories participated in the characterization campaign of the IAEA-448. The list of participating laboratories is reported in Appendix.

The selection of expert laboratories was based on their demonstrated analytical performances through application of a quality assurance system including method validation and established uncertainty budget, and on good analytical performances in proficiency tests.

Each laboratory received one bottle of the IAEA-448 and one ampoule of a calibrated standard solution of ²²⁶Ra. Laboratories using gamma ray spectrometry were requested to measure ²²⁶Ra (186.2 keV line) and its short-lived daughters at secular equilibrium, namely ²¹⁴Pb (351.9 keV line) and ²¹⁴Bi (609.3 keV line). In addition, the participating laboratories were asked to report the measurement result standard uncertainty along with the technical information about the analytical method, calibration procedure, measurement results metrological traceability and applied quality control mechanism. The reported ²²⁶Ra measurement results of the standard solution were used to validate the calibration of the system and the observed variations between the reported results were found to be within the reported measurement results uncertainty.

The participating laboratories reported analytical measurement results of ²²⁶Ra accompanied with the combined standard uncertainty calculated in compliance with the Evaluation of measurement data - Guide to the expression of uncertainty in measurement, JGCM 100:2008 [3]. The measurement result uncertainty budget using gamma ray spectrometry contained the following components: sample and background counts, detector efficiency, dry mass determination, self-absorption and other corrections, nuclear data and method reproducibility.

The reported analytical results and associated uncertainties in addition to a summary of the analytical procedure applied are reported in Table 2.

All participating laboratories claimed metrological traceability of provided results to the International System of Units (SI) through standard calibration sources. They used in addition certified reference materials as part of their quality control programme.

LABLE 2. KA CHARACTER	IZATION	MEADUKEM	ENI KESULIJI	N BY KB AS KEFUKIE	D BT FAKTICIFANTS IN THE IAEA-448
Laboratory	Energy (keV)	Massic activity (Bq kg ⁻¹)	Combined standard uncertainty (u) (Bq kg ⁻¹)	Expanded uncertainty (U) $k = 2$ (Bq kg ⁻¹)	Analytical method
	186.2	21450	316	632	A steel radon tight sample container was used to count the soil in cylindrical accumetry Gamma ray spectrometry
01	351.9	19783	207	414	system with HPGe detector P type, 80% efficiency was
I	609.3	20075	207	414	used. Calibration carried out using ²²³ Ka standard solution NIST SRM 4966A traceable to SI units.
	186.2	19100	950	1900	Aluminum radon tight sample container was used.
02	351.9	17300	069	1380	Gamma ray spectrometry system: HPGe detector P type with 40% relative efficiency. Efficiency calibration was
I	609.3	16600	830	1660	performed using diluted ²²⁶ Ra standard solution.
	186.2	18634	428	856	A steel radon tight sample container was used to count the soil, with HPGe detector, P-type, 30% Relative
03	351.9	19485	1222	2444	Efficiency. Calibration carried out using ²²⁶ Ra standard solution traceable to SI units through ENEA primary
I	609.3	18994	713	1426	²²⁶ Ra standard. Peak area evaluated by Canberra Genie 2K.
	186.2	19349	618	1236	Sample container made of Teflon 2.2 g/cm ⁻³ . Geometry: cvlindrical HPGe detector P-type 40 % Relative
04	351.9	20253	717	1434	Efficiency, Coaxial was used. Calibration carried out
I	609.3	19779	595	1190	using ²⁻² Ra standard solution traceable to SI units. Peak area evaluated by Ortec γ -Vision.

TARE 7 PADITIM. 276 MEASUREMENT RESULTS IN RALAS REPORTED RV PARTICIPANTS IN THE LAFA-448

Analytical method	was pressed into a polyethylene canis 90 mm, up to the height of 13 mm,	plate, which was glued to the canister sample geometry. Efficiency calibrat	a standard solution 9ML01ELMH(radon tight sample container wa.	efficiency calibration was performe	V.4.1. V.4.1.	
	The sample diameter of	by a plastic stabilize the	done using CERCA.	Aluminum Gamma eve	efficiency,	- diluted QC Interwinner	
Expanded uncertainty (U) $k = 2$ (Bq kg ⁻¹)	800	1000	009	1400	1000	1200	
Combined standard uncertainty (u) (Bq kg ⁻¹)	400	500	300	700	500	600	
Massic activity (Bq kg ⁻¹)	19000	17800	17700	18900	18600	20172	
Energy (keV)	186.2	351.9	609.3	186.2	351.9	609.3	
Laboratory		05	I		06	1	

	4		
1	٢		
ŀ	٦		
L		,	

2.4. ASSIGNMENT OF CERTIFIED PROPERTY VALUE AND ASSOCIATED UNCERTAINTY

The collected set of data of ²²⁶Ra in the characterization campaign reported in Table 2 was subjected to several statistical tests as applied in 2.2. The statistical tests showed that there is no outlying data within the set of reported results. The directional tests passed the acceptance criteria, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Kolmogorov-Smirnov-Lilliefors normality tests showed normal distributions of the data set.

The reported measurement results were first checked for compliance with the characterization requirements (reported measurement result uncertainty, technical information, and demonstrated metrological traceability) and for correctness of the system calibration based on reported values of the standard solution provided to the participants. All reported results for the standard solution were within ± 3 %, therefore it could be concluded that the participating laboratories demonstrated a good agreement regarding cross-calibration.

The reference value of ²²⁶Ra in the IAEA-448 CRM was derived as a consensus of all reported results estimated using the median as described in ISO 13528 [4]. The arithmetic mean, Algorithm A mean and Hampel mean as described in ISO/TS 20612 [5] were also calculated and compared with the median. No significant difference was observed as shown in Table 3, therefore, the reference value obtained using the median estimator was adopted. This value is a reliable estimation of the property value.

Statistical estimator	Estimated mean value of ²²⁶ Ra (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Arithmetic mean	19054
Median (assigned reference value)	19050
Algorithm A mean	19057
Hampel mean	19064

TABLE 3. ESTIMATED CONSENSUS VALUE OF ²²⁶Ra USING DIFFERENT STATISTICAL ESTIMATORS

The derived reference value was confirmed using a radiochemical procedure with a test portion of 0.5 g. In this procedure ²²⁶Ra was determined by isotope dilution alpha spectrometry. The samples were spiked with ²²⁹Th tracer in equilibrium with its ²²⁵Ra daughter. The samples were melted and dissolved using Li-methaborate fusion. Then Ra was pre-concentrated by co-precipitation with PbSO₄. The precipitates were dissolved and alpha spectrometry sources were made by micro co-precipitation with BaSO₄. The sources were measured when the ²¹⁷At decay product of ²²⁵Ra reached its maximum activity. The average massic activity of four independent test portions taken from four different bottles was (20080 ± 600) Bq kg⁻¹ which is comparable within 2 σ with the reference value.

According to the ISO Guide 35 [2] the combined uncertainty associated with the reference value consists of uncertainties related to characterization u_{char} , between-bottle heterogeneity

 (u_{bb}) and long-term stability (u_{stab}) . These different uncertainty components were estimated and propagated to estimate the combined standard uncertainty of the reference value of ²²⁶Ra.

$$u^{2}_{CRM} = u^{2}_{char} + u^{2}_{bb} + u^{2}_{stab}$$
(5)

The uncertainty component associated with the characterization (u_{char}) was estimated using the approach described by Pauwels et al. [6]. In this approach, the uncertainty of characterization is separated into laboratory dependent uncertainty u(I), uncertainty common to all laboratories u(II) and uncertainty common to groups of laboratories u(III).

$$u(I) = \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}^{2}}}{n}$$
(6)

where u_i is the combined measurement result standard uncertainty reported by each laboratory and *n* is the number of reported results. For this case *u* (II) and *u* (III) were set to zero.

The calculated uncertainty component associated with the characterization (u_{char}) according to this approach was 150 Bq kg⁻¹.

Based on the technical expertise of such a material and analyte and known information about the material history, the u_{stab} uncertainty component associated stability during storage period was chosen as 0.5 % of the reference value, which guarantees the validity of the certificate for at least 10 years. In addition, the material stability will be monitored and if any significant variations are observed, the customers will be informed.

Figure 2 presents the reported results by the six expert laboratories for 226 Ra massic activity (Bq kg⁻¹) in the IAEA-448 soil sample. The reference value expressed as a median (red solid line) and corresponding expanded uncertainty (k=2) (blue dashed line) are shown. The error bars correspond to the expanded uncertainty (k=2) as reported by the participating laboratories.

An example of a typical gamma ray spectrum of IAEA-448 is shown in Fig. 3.

The assigned reference value of 226 Ra and associated standard uncertainty are shown in Table 4.



FIG. 2. Reported results for ²²⁶Ra massic activity ($Bq kg^{-1}$) in IAEA-448 soil sample plotted against the certified reference value expressed as a median (red solid line) and corresponding expanded uncertainty (k=2) (blue dashed line). The vertical error bars correspond to the expanded uncertainty reported by each laboratory.





TABLE 4. DERIV	ED CERTIFIED REFERE	ENCE VALUE OF ²²⁶ Ra ANI	O ASSOCIATED CO	MBINED STANDA	RD UNCERTAINTY
			Standard		
	Standard uncertainty	Standard uncertainty	uncertainty		Combined standard
Dadioninalida	associated with	associated with material	associated with	Certified	uncertainty
NaulUllucituc	characterization	heterogeneity	material stability	reference value	
	u_{char}	u_{bb}	u_{stab}		п
			Bq kg ⁻¹		
²²⁶ Ra	150	190	95	19050	260
The reference date	for decay correction is 01	January 2009. The certified v	ralue is reported on dr	y mass basis.	

2.5. MOISTURE CONTENT DETERMINATION

The average moisture content of the material was determined by drying several test portions of 2 g in an oven at 105 °C for 12 hours, and was found to be (3.7 ± 0.2) % with a coverage factor k = 1. Since the moisture content can vary with ambient humidity and temperature, it is recommended to check it prior to analysis and to report all results on a dry mass basis.

2.6. METROLOGICAL TRACEABILITY AND COMMUTABILITY

The quantity value assigned to the certified reference material is massic activity of 226 Ra, expressed in the derived SI unit Bq kg⁻¹. This value was derived from individual results reported by the participating expert laboratories. Evidence on metrological traceability to the SI units was provided for all results taken into account for the calculation of the assigned value.

Pure standard solutions with stated purity and uncertainty were employed for calibration in the characterization campaign. In addition, the cross calibration amongst participating laboratories was checked using a standard solution of ²²⁶Ra provided to all participants. Consequently the ²²⁶Ra certified value derived through this unbroken chain of comparisons with defined uncertainties is metrologically traceable to SI units.

2.7. INTENDED USE

Based on well-defined metrological characteristics — metrological traceability of assigned reference value and associated measurement uncertainty — as well as good physical characteristics — homogeneity and small particle size — this certified reference material is suitable for quality assurance and quality control purposes in determination of massic activity of ²²⁶Ra in soil. The IAEA-448 CRM is also suitable for method development and all aspects of analytical method validation, including potential bias evaluation, and for training purposes.

2.8. INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE

The IAEA-448 certified reference material is supplied in 100 g units. The material homogeneity is guaranteed if a minimum test portion of 1 g is used.

To overcome segregation effects due to storage or transportation, the material should be mixed before opening the bottle. All necessary precautions should be taken when opening the bottle to prevent any spread of the soil powder in the laboratory.

It is recommended that the original unopened bottle be stored securely at ambient temperature in a dark and dry place. It is recommended to avoid direct exposure to sunlight or to a source of heat.

The issue date of this Certified Reference Material is March 2013. Based on experience with similar materials, the reference value for studied radionuclide is valid until March 2023, provided the original bottle is handled and stored in accordance with the provided instructions.

The IAEA makes no warranties, expressed or implied, with respect to the data contained in this report and shall not be liable for any damage that may result from the use of such data.

APPENDIX

List of participating laboratories in the characterization campaign of the IAEA-448 (in alphabetical order)

GERMANY

Möbius, S.	FTU, Research Center Karlsruhe Agricultural Office, Postfach 3640, D-76021 Karlsruhe, Germany
HUNGARY	
Tarjan, S.	Radioanalytical Reference Laboratory, Food and Feed Safety Directorate of the Hungarian Agricultural Office, Fogoly u. 13-15, Budapest, Hungary
ITALY	
Rusconi, R.	ARPA Lombardia, Dipartimento di Milano, Via Juvara 22, Milano - 20129, Italy
ITALY	
De Felice, P.	INMRI, ENEA, Via Anguillarese 301, P.O. BOX 2400, Rome - 100100, Italy
SLOVENIA	
Korun, M.	Laboratory for Radiation Measuring Systems and Radioactivity Measurements, Jozef Stefan Institute, Jamova, 39, Ljubljana 1000, Slovenia

SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC

Al-Masri, M.

Gamma Spectrometry Laboratory, Environment Protection Division, Atomic Energy Commission of Syria, Kafar Sousah, 17 Nissan street, Damascus, P.O.Box 6091000, Syrian Arab Republic

REFERENCES

- [1] ARTHUR, J.D., LANGHUS, B.G., PATEL, C., Technical Summary of Oil & Gas Produced Water Treatment Technologies, ALL Consulting, Tulsa, OK (2005).
 <u>http://www.all-llc.com/publicdownloads/ALLConsulting-</u> WaterTreatmentOptionsReport.pdf
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION (ISO), Reference materials — general and statistical principles for certification, ISO Guide 35:2006, ISO, Geneva (2006).
- [3] JOINT COMMITTEE FOR GUIDES IN METROLOGY (JGCM), Evaluation of Measurement data - Guide to the Expression of Uncertainty in Measurement, JGCM 100:2008 (GUM with minor corrections), (2008). http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/documents/jcgm/JCGM 100 2008 E.pdf
- [4] INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION (ISO), Statistical methods for use in proficiency testing by interlaboratory comparisons, ISO 13528:2005, ISO, Geneva (2005).
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION (ISO), Water quality — Interlaboratory comparisons for proficiency testing of analytical chemistry laboratories, ISO/TS 20612:2007, ISO, Geneva (2007).
- [6] PAUWELS, J., LAMBERTY, A., SCHIMMEL, H., The determination of the uncertainty of reference materials certified by laboratory intercomparison, Accred. Qual. Assur. **3** 180-184 (1998).

CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

A. Ceccatelli	International Atomic Energy Agency
G. Kis-Benedek	International Atomic Energy Agency
A. Pitois	International Atomic Energy Agency
A. Shakhashiro	International Atomic Energy Agency



Where to order IAEA publications

In the following countries IAEA publications may be purchased from the sources listed below, or from major local booksellers. Payment may be made in local currency or with UNESCO coupons.

AUSTRALIA

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132 Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

BELGIUM

Jean de Lannoy, avenue du Roi 202, B-1190 Brussels Telephone: +32 2 538 43 08 • Fax: +32 2 538 08 41 Email: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be • Web site: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

CANADA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd, Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346, USA Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com • Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 1-5369 Canotek Rd., Ottawa, Ontario, K1J 9J3 Telephone: +613 745 2665 • Fax: +613 745 7660 Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

CHINA

IAEA Publications in Chinese: China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation, Translation Section, P.O. Box 2103, Beijing

CZECH REPUBLIC

Suweco CZ, S.R.O., Klecakova 347, 180 21 Praha 9 Telephone: +420 26603 5364 • Fax: +420 28482 1646 Email: nakup@suweco.cz • Web site: http://www.suweco.cz

FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, PO BOX 128 (Keskuskatu 1), FIN-00101 Helsinki Telephone: +358 9 121 41 • Fax: +358 9 121 4450 Email: akatilaus@akateeminen.com • Web site: http://www.akateeminen.com

FRANCE

Form-Edit, 5, rue Janssen, P.O. Box 25, F-75921 Paris Cedex 19 Telephone: +33 1 42 01 49 49 • Fax: +33 1 42 01 90 90 Email: formedit@formedit.fr • Web site: http://www. formedit.fr

Lavoisier SAS, 145 rue de Provigny, 94236 Cachan Cedex Telephone: + 33 1 47 40 67 02 • Fax +33 1 47 40 67 02 Email: romuald.verrier@lavoisier.fr • Web site: http://www.lavoisier.fr

GERMANY

UNO-Verlag, Vertriebs- und Verlags GmbH, Am Hofgarten 10, D-53113 Bonn Telephone: + 49 228 94 90 20 • Fax: +49 228 94 90 20 or +49 228 94 90 222 Email: bestellung@uno-verlag.de • Web site: http://www.uno-verlag.de

HUNGARY

Librotrade Ltd., Book Import, P.O. Box 126, H-1656 Budapest Telephone: +36 1 257 7777 • Fax: +36 1 257 7472 • Email: books@librotrade.hu

INDIA

Allied Publishers Group, 1st Floor, Dubash House, 15, J. N. Heredia Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai 400 001, Telephone: +91 22 22617926/27 • Fax: +91 22 22617928 Email: alliedpl@vsnl.com • Web site: http://www.alliedpublishers.com

Bookwell, 2/72, Nirankari Colony, Delhi 110009 Telephone: +91 11 23268786, +91 11 23257264 • Fax: +91 11 23281315 Email: bookwell@vsnl.net

ITALY

Libreria Scientifica Dott. Lucio di Biasio "AEIOU", Via Coronelli 6, I-20146 Milan Telephone: +39 02 48 95 45 52 or 48 95 45 62 • Fax: +39 02 48 95 45 48 Email: info@libreriaaeiou.eu • Website: www.libreriaaeiou.eu

JAPAN

Maruzen Company Ltd, 1-9-18, Kaigan, Minato-ku, Tokyo, 105-0022 Telephone: +81 3 6367 6079 • Fax: +81 3 6367 6207 Email: journal@maruzen.co.jp • Web site: http://www.maruzen.co.jp

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

KINS Inc., Information Business Dept. Samho Bldg. 2nd Floor, 275-1 Yang Jae-dong SeoCho-G, Seoul 137-130 Telephone: +02 589 1740 • Fax: +02 589 1746 • Web site: http://www.kins.re.kr

NETHERLANDS

De Lindeboom Internationale Publicaties B.V., M.A. de Ruyterstraat 20A, NL-7482 BZ Haaksbergen Telephone: +31 (0) 53 5740004 • Fax: +31 (0) 53 5729296 Email: books@delindeboom.com • Web site: http://www.delindeboom.com

Martinus Nijhoff International, Koraalrood 50, P.O. Box 1853, 2700 CZ Zoetermeer Telephone: +31 793 684 400 • Fax: +31 793 615 698 Email: info@nijhoff.nl • Web site: http://www.nijhoff.nl

Swets and Zeitlinger b.v., P.O. Box 830, 2160 SZ Lisse Telephone: +31 252 435 111 • Fax: +31 252 415 888 Email: infoho@swets.nl • Web site: http://www.swets.nl

NEW ZEALAND

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132, Australia Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

SLOVENIA

Cankarjeva Zalozba d.d., Kopitarjeva 2, SI-1512 Ljubljana Telephone: +386 1 432 31 44 • Fax: +386 1 230 14 35 Email: import.books@cankarjeva-z.si • Web site: http://www.cankarjeva-z.si/uvoz

SPAIN

Díaz de Santos, S.A., c/ Juan Bravo, 3A, E-28006 Madrid Telephone: +34 91 781 94 80 • Fax: +34 91 575 55 63 Email: compras@diazdesantos.es, carmela@diazdesantos.es, barcelona@diazdesantos.es, julio@diazdesantos.es Web site: http://www.diazdesantos.es

UNITED KINGDOM

The Stationery Office Ltd, International Sales Agency, PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1 GN Telephone (orders): +44 870 600 5552 • (enquiries): +44 207 873 8372 • Fax: +44 207 873 8203 Email (orders): book.orders@tso.co.uk • (enquiries): book.enquiries@tso.co.uk • Web site: http://www.tso.co.uk

On-line orders DELTA Int. Book Wholesalers Ltd., 39 Alexandra Road, Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PQ Email: info@profbooks.com • Web site: http://www.profbooks.com

Books on the Environment Earthprint Ltd., P.O. Box 119, Stevenage SG1 4TP Telephone: +44 1438748111 • Fax: +44 1438748844 Email: orders@earthprint.com • Web site: http://www.earthprint.com

UNITED NATIONS

Dept. 1004, Room DC2-0853, First Avenue at 46th Street, New York, N.Y. 10017, USA (UN) Telephone: +800 253-9646 or +212 963-8302 • Fax: +212 963-3489 Email: publications@un.org • Web site: http://www.un.org

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd., Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346 Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com · Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 812 Proctor Ave., Ogdensburg, NY, 13669 Telephone: +888 551 7470 (toll-free) • Fax: +888 568 8546 (toll-free) Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

Orders and requests for information may also be addressed directly to:

Marketing and Sales Unit, International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre, PO Box 100, 1400 Vienna, Austria Telephone: +43 1 2600 22529 (or 22530) • Fax: +43 1 2600 29302 Email: sales.publications@iaea.org • Web site: http://www.iaea.org/books

13-32821

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISSN 2074–7659